FILED
September 3, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32091-0

# DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

٧.

ROGELIO RODRIGUEZ, Appellant

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF FRANKLIN COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE VANDERSCHOOR

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 509.939.3038

#

#### I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- A. The trial court violated Art. IV §16 of the Washington Constitution when it impermissibly commented on the evidence.
- B. The trial court erred when it denied the defense request for a jury instruction on a lesser- included offense of display of a weapon.

Issue Related To Assignment of Error

- 1. Did the trial court impermissibly comment on the evidence when it affirmatively answered a jury question, thus establishing one of the elements of the charged crime?
- 2. Did the trial court err when it denied a request for a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of display of a weapon?

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Rogelio Rodriguez was charged by second amended information with second degree assault while armed with a firearm, unlawful possession of a firearm, second degree; possession of stolen property second degree; taking a motor vehicle without permission, second degree; unlawful possession of a short-barreled

shotgun or rifle; and, driving under the influence. CP 118-120. The matter proceeded to a jury trial. (10/30/13 RP 23).

On June 6, 2013 in the early evening, homeowner Patricia Montes-Deoca noticed a silver car come onto her 5-acre property. (10/30/13 RP 27). The vehicle came close to her chicken coop, and then burned rubber as it used the turn around. She went up to the car and asked if the driver and passenger needed something. The driver sped away. (10/30/13 RP 28). She saw the car go to the property next door, and the female passenger tried to open the gate to the property. She was unable to open it and the driver used the car to knock down the gate. (10/30/13 RP 29). Ms. Montes-Deoca called the police and her husband telephoned the neighboring property owner. (10/30/13 RP 29).

The property owner, Jesus Arteaga, testified that he arrived within five minutes of the phone call. (10/30/13 RP 38). He saw the silver car high-centered in the sand, and the female passenger walking away from it. (10/30/13 RP 39; 40-41). Mr. Rodriguez remained in the car, with the music turned up; Mr. Argeaga heard him yelling, and saw him poke his head in and out of the open sunroof. (10/30/13 RP 41;44).

When the officer arrived, he and Mr. Arteaga walked toward the car. They heard Mr. Rodriguez yelling and cussing. (10/30/13 RP 43). Mr. Arteaga testified he heard the deputy say he "thought he saw a gun" and ordered him to stay back. Mr. Arteaga did not see a gun. (10/30/13 RP 44;51).

Deputy Rapp stated that as he approached the silver car, Mr. Rodriguez popped out of the sunroof and "pointed something silver" at him say "Get the F---back" and "shoot me M-f-er, shoot me. (10/30/13 RP 68; 10/31/13 RP 113-114). He said that the item was not "gripped" but rather, "actually held on the top of the hand." (10/30/13 RP 89). The deputy testified he did not know if the silver object was a gun, but it intimidated him and warranted alarm for his safety. (10/30/13 RP 88-89; 10/31/13 RP 113;136-137). He stated that his testimony, that Mr. Rodriguez pointed a gun at him, was based on what he later believed happened, not what he observed at the time. (10/31/13 RP 128).

Sergeant Pfeiffer, who arrived minutes after Deputy Rapp, reported that when Deputy Rapp told him Mr. Rodriguez had a shiny object, it caused him to be fearful and warranted alarm for his safety also. Sgt. Pfeiffer did not see a gun. (10/31/13 RP 206).

Despite the deputy telling Mr. Rodriguez to show his hands, Mr. Rodriguez continued to bounce around inside of the car, turning on the lights, windshield wipers, raising the stereo volume, and yelling cuss words. (10/30/13 RP 68)-69. The officers planned to distract Mr. Rodriguez and shoot pepper spray inside of the vehicle. However, Mr. Rodriguez rolled up the windows and locked the doors. (10/30/13 RP 71).

After the attempt to distract Mr. Rodriguez, Deputy Rapp approached the car and unsuccessfully tried to kick in the window. Mr. Rodriguez quickly opened the driver's door, and ran about a half of a mile, jumping over a four -foot high fence. (10/30/13 RP 71-73). The officers pursued and tackled him, and pepper sprayed his face to subdue him. (10/30/13 RP 73-74). He was reportedly cussing, kicking, singing, and profusely sweating. (10/30/13 RP 75). Officer Rapp believed Mr. Rodriguez was under the influence of a drug and obtained search warrants for both a blood draw and the vehicle. (10/30/13 RP 78;83).

Search of the vehicle yielded recovery of a silver barrel in the cup holder. Another barrel attached to a center trigger piece, along with a firing pin were located in the backseat in an unzipped bag.

(10/30/13 RP 85;91-92). The zipgun was unloaded. (10/30/13 RP 86).

The results of the blood test drug screen flagged positive for amphetamine and methamphetamine. (10/31/13 RP 226). The forensic toxicologist testified that the type of drugs found in Mr. Rodriguez's system could cause his earlier abnormal behaviors. (10/31/13 RP 235).

Several days later Deputy Rapp questioned Mr. Rodriguez at the jail. (10/31/13 RP 120). He asked the deputy if he knew what drugs had been in his system, as he remembered drinking a Pepsi and believed it had been laced with something. (10/30/13 RP 98). Mr. Rodriguez told the deputy that he had been drugged and had difficulty remembering much about the night he was arrested. (10/31/13 RP 120).

Sean Guajardo from the Benton Franklin Juvenile Justice Center testified that Mr. Rodriguez had been adjudicated as guilty in a juvenile case for malicious mischief, second degree, referring to it as a felony conviction. (10/31/13 RP 207;209).

Dr. Grant from Eastern State Hospital (ESH), and Dr. Stephen Rubin both testified they conducted a diminished capacity evaluation for Mr. Rodriguez. (10/31/13 RP 241; 257). Dr. Grant

concluded that Mr. Rodriguez was impaired by drugs at the time of the alleged crimes; he opined that Mr. Rodriguez was capable of forming the intent to take the car, drive the car, and flee from the officers. (11/1/13 RP 10-13). However, he did not know if Mr. Rodriguez intended to harm or intimidate the officer. (11/1/13 RP 28;32).

Dr. Rubin concluded that Mr. Rodriguez was able to form intent, and he did not believe Mr. Rodriguez intended to harm the Deputy Rapp. (10/31/13 RP 281) He stated that it was more likely that Mr. Rodriguez intended to be harmed by the deputy, evidenced by his statement, "go ahead and shoot me". He opined that Mr. Rodriguez was more interested in scaring off the police officer so he could escape, than in harming the officer. (10/31/13 RP 281-82;292;306).

Defense counsel requested jury instructions on display of a weapon as a lesser- included offense of second degree assault.

(11/1/13 RP 44). The court initially agreed to include the instruction, but later changed its mind, reasoning that the evidence did not affirmatively establish Mr. Rodriguez's theory of the case.

(11/1/13 RP 48).

The court gave Jury Instruction No. 16:

A person commits the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree when he or she knowingly has a firearm in his or her possession or control and he or she has previously been adjudicated guilty as a juvenile of a felony. CP 44.

And Instruction No. 18:

To convict the defendant of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about June 5, 2013, the defendant knowingly owned a firearm or knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control;
- (2) That the defendant had previously been adjudicated guilty as a juvenile of a felony; and
- (3) That the ownership or possession or control of the firearm occurred in the State of Washington. If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty. On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.
  CP 46.

Although not recorded in the verbatim record, at some point during the jury deliberations, the jury submitted the following inquiry:

"Was Rogelio convicted of a felony as a juvenile? The report does not explicitly say the charges were considered a felony."

The Court's written response was: "Yes." CP 24.

Mr. Rodriguez was convicted on all counts. CP 8-9. He makes this timely appeal. CP 6-7.

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Impermissibly Commented On The Evidence Thereby Violating Mr. Rodriguez's Constitutional Rights Under Article IV, § 16 Of The Washington Constitution.

A judge is constitutionally prohibited from instructing the jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law.

Wash. Const. Art. IV § 16. *State v. Primrose*, 32 Wn.App. 1, 3, 645 P.2d 714 (1982). Because the Washington Constitution expressly prohibits a comment on the evidence, it may be raised for the first time on appeal. The failure to object at the trial level is not a prohibition to appellate review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Lampshire*, 74 Wn.2d 888, 893, 447 P.2d 727 (1968); *State v. Bogner*, 62 Wn.2d 247, 252, 382 P.2d 254 (1963).

Mr. Rodriguez pleaded not guilty to each of the charges against him. The jury was instructed that plea put in issue every element of each crime charged. CP 30. In a pre-trial motion hearing, the State informed the court that it intended to offer a prior conviction to prove an element of the charged crime of unlawful possession of a firearm, second degree. The Court responded,

"You have to do that" to which the State responded, "Right."

(10/30/13 RP 18). The "to convict" jury instruction required that to find him guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm, the jury must conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Rodriguez had been previously been adjudicated as a juvenile of a felony crime. CP 46.

During deliberations, the jury sent a written question to the court:

"Was Rogelio convicted of a felony as a juvenile? The report does not explicitly say the charges were considered a felony." CP 24.

Rather than referring the jury back to the court's instructions and to use their notes and collective memory to resolve the factual issue, the court instead answered the question in the affirmative.

CP 24. The trial court's answer could only be understood by the jury as indicating that the State had already proven that element.

An instruction improperly comments on the evidence if it resolves a disputed issue that should have been left to the jury.

State v. Becker 132 Wn.2d 54, 64-65, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997). In Levy, the appellant argued that the trial court violated the prohibition on judicial comment when it gave a jury instruction regarding possession of a deadly weapon, "to wit: a .38 revolver or

a crowbar...you must unanimously agree as to which deadly weapon or deadly weapons, (a .38 revolver or a crowbar), he possessed. *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 717, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). On review, the Court noted that a crowbar only qualifies as a deadly weapon under particular circumstances, thus the State was required to prove the crowbar was used in a manner consistent with those circumstances. *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 722. The Court concluded that the reference to the crowbar as a deadly weapon was likely a judicial comment because the jury was no longer required to consider whether the State proved that its use caused it to be qualified as a deadly weapon. *Id*.

Similarly, here the court's undisguised directive as to the element of previous adjudication of a felony was a judicial comment: the jury was no longer required to consider whether the State proved that particular element.

A judicial comment on the evidence is presumed prejudicial, and the State bears the burden of showing that the jury's decision was not influenced, even where the evidence is undisputed or overwhelming. Bogner, 62 Wn.2d at 252. (Emphasis added). A judicial comment is only not prejudicial if the record affirmatively shows no prejudice could have resulted. Levy 156 Wn.2d at 725.

The fundamental question underlying analysis of judicial comments "is whether the mere mention of a fact in an instruction conveys the idea that the fact has been accepted by the court as true." *Levy,* 156 Wn.2d at 726. Here, the court explicitly stated in writing that the prior conviction was a fact, proving the State's case.

The stated purpose of Article IV, § 16 "is to prevent the jury from unduly being influenced by knowledge conveyed to it by the court of its opinion regarding the credibility weight, or sufficiency of the evidence." *State v. Sivins*, 138 Wn.App. 52, 58, 155 P.3d 982 (2007)(internal citations omitted). It is presumed that juries follow all instructions given. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001). Assuming the jury followed the court's instruction here, that a factual issue had been established, the court's written comment clearly unduly influenced the jury; the jury note made it clear the jury had not found that element. This was an impermissible comment on the evidence in violation of the stated purpose of Article IV, § 16.

Moreover, the error was not cured by the admonishment to the jury given in instruction number 1<sup>1</sup>. The court directly and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> (in pertinent part): "The state constitution prohibits a trial judge from making a comment on the evidence. It would be

expressly informed them that in addition to the jury instructions, it was an established fact that Mr. Rodriguez had been adjudicated guilty of a felony as a juvenile.

In *Levy*, the Court concluded the written 'to-wit' instruction regarding the deadly weapon was an impermissible comment on the evidence. However, because the jury found that Levy did not *possess* the crowbar, he could not have been prejudiced even if the jury had improperly concluded that the crowbar was a deadly weapon. *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 726. Further, the Court found the court's comment on the evidence harmless because it did not relieve the jury of determining all of the elements of the offense. *Id.* at 727.

By contrast, in this case the trial court relieved the jury from finding that Mr. Rodriguez had been previously adjudicated guilty of a felony. In *Becker*, the Court noted that *whether or not the State had produced sufficient evidence was not the issue and did not cure the error. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d at 65. (Emphasis added).

-

improper for me to express, by words or conduct, my personal opinion about the value of testimony or other evidence. I have not intentionally done this. If it appeared to you that I have indicated my personal opinion in any way, either during trial or in giving these instructions, you must disregard this entirely." CP 28.

Here, the judicial comment is presumptively prejudicial. The record shows that the jury had not found the necessary element of a prior conviction. The court conveyed that an element of the crime had been proven as a matter of law. Mr. Rodriguez is entitled to a reversal of his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm.

Becker, 132 Wn.2d at 65.

B. The Court Erred When It Denied The Defense Request For An Instruction On Display Of A Weapon.

A trial court's refusal to submit a proposed jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Prado*, 144 Wn.App. 227, 241, 181 P.3d 901 (2008). A jury must be fully instructed on the law and a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser-included offense if (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense is a necessary element of the offense charged, and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that the defendant committed the lesser crime. *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978); *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 547-49, 947 P.2d 700 (1997); *Prado*, 144 Wn.App. at 241. If these two requirements are satisfied, "a lesser included offense instruction is required as a matter of right." *In re Personal Restraint of Crace*, 157 Wn.App. 81,

106, 236 P.3d 924 (2010). Where a trial court determines that the factual prong of the test is not satisfied, it is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. LaPlant*, 157 Wn.App. 685,687, 239 P.3d 366 (2010).

To convict Mr. Rodriguez of second-degree assault, the State was required to prove that Mr. Rodriguez assaulted Deputy Rapp with the specific intent to create reasonable fear and apprehension of bodily injury. RCW 9A.36.021(1). To convict Mr. Rodriguez of the misdemeanor offense of unlawful display of a weapon, the jury must find the defendant displayed a weapon in a manner manifesting intent to intimidate another or warranting alarm for another's safety. RCW 9.41.270(1). As charged and prosecuted here, the legal prong the *Workman* test was met: each of the elements of the lesser crime are a necessary element of the greater offense. *State v. Ward*, 125 Wn. App. 243, 248, 104 P.3d 670 (2004), abrogated on other grounds, *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011).

The second prong of the *Workman* test, the factual prong is satisfied when substantial evidence in the record supports a rational inference that the defendant committed only the lesser

included offense, to the exclusion of the greater offense. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 461, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

Here, substantial evidence affirmatively established Mr. Rodriguez's theory on the lesser-included offense. Deputy Rapp testified that he saw Mr. Rodriguez point something silver at him and he did not know until later that it was the barrel of a zip gun. In his report he wrote, "could be a handgun." (10/31/13 RP 128). He also testified that when he saw the silver object he was intimidated, took cover, and it warranted alarm for his own safety. (10/31/13 RP 136-37). Sgt. Pfeiffer testified that the deputy told him that Mr. Rodriguez *displayed* a shiny object. (10/31/13 RP 199-200). Sgt. Pfeiffer also testified that information caused him to concerned or warrant alarm for his own safety. (10/31/13 RP 206).

The defense expert, Dr. Rubin, concluded that it was more likely that Mr. Rodriguez was intent on scaring off the police officers so he could escape, rather than intending to harm them. Displaying a shiny object that could be construed as a gun had the initial effect of causing the officers to back away from the car.

In *Fowler*, a road rage case, the victim testified that Fowler got out of his car, pulled out a handgun, and pointed the gun at him. The victim's wife corroborated the testimony. *State v. Fowler*, 114

Wn.2d 59, 61, 785 P.2d 808 (1990) overruled on other grounds by State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991). At trial, the defendant offered no evidence that would support a theory he only intended to intimidate the victims or that he displayed his gun in a manner which would cause them alarm. Rather, the testimony of the defendant addressed whether he even had a gun, and if he did, whether it would have been visible to the victims when he began to remove his outer clothing. Fowler, 114 Wn.2d at 813. The defendant's testimony only served to discredit the victim testimony. The evidence produced at trial was that either he inadvertently revealed the gun or the only other possibility, he pointed the weapon at the victim. State v. Barker, 103 Wn.App. 893, 901, 14 P.3d 863 (2000).

The Court held that it was not enough that a jury simply disbelieve the State's evidence. *Fowler*, 114 Wn.2d at 813.

Because the evidence presented did not affirmatively establish the defendant's theory on the lesser-included instruction, Fowler was not entitled to such. *Id.* at 814.

By contrast, the Court found the evidence in *Baggett* satisfied the factual prong of the *Workman* analysis. *State v. Baggett,* 103 Wn.App. 564, 13 P.3d 659 (2000). There, Baggett

was discovered by police officers as he leaned out of his car window with a rifle apparently trying to shoot a cat in the street.

When Baggett noticed the patrol car, he ordered his wife to drive away, which she did; but she stopped when the officer activated the siren. *Id.* at 566. Baggett got out of the car with his rifle, and was ordered to drop the weapon. He turned around, holding the rifle at hip level, with the barrel pointing directly at the officer. Id. at 567. The officer took cover and continued to order him to drop the weapon. After a series of events, the officer eventually arrested Mr. Baggett. The court found that Mr. Baggett's capacity was sufficiently diminished that he was unable to form the intent necessary to be convicted of second-degree assault. However, the court did find him guilty of unlawful display of a firearm. On review, the court pointed out that Baggett held his rifle with the barrel pointing out rather than up in the air or aimed at the ground. The manner in which he held the rifle warranted alarm for the safety of the officer. *Id.* at 571.

Similarly, here there was substantial evidence that Mr.

Rodriguez was impaired by the drugs in his system. He was sweating, kicking, cussing, singing, and bouncing around in the vehicle. When he popped his head out of the sunroof, he displayed

or pointed (but did not "grip") something that caused Deputy Rapp to go for cover and, to be intimidated and alarmed for his own safety. Like *Baggett*, here there was substantial evidence that supported Mr. Rodriguez's theory that he lacked the intent to cause the officers reasonable apprehension of bodily harm. The officers' testimony was substantial evidence to support an inference that he committed only the offense of unlawful display of a firearm. The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56.

The remedy for failure to give a lesser- included instruction when one is warranted is to set aside the conviction and remand for a new trial. *State v. Ginn*, 128 Wn.App. 872, 878, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005).

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Rodriguez respectfully asks this Court to reverse his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm, and set aside his conviction for second degree assault with a deadly weapon, remanding for a new trial on that matter.