State of Washington
 Court of Appeals, Div. III
 500 N. Cedar Street
 Spokane, WA 99201

PRINT ORDER DATE:11/24/2014
 Printing/Binding Briefs
20# White Bond, 2 Sided, Thermal Bound

Attorney/Pro Se (full name) (If indigent (OPD) do not need attorneys name-just OPD)	Case No.	Case Type No. Do not send sealed, confidential, or type 5, 6, and 7 cases
Franklin County Prosecutor	320910	1

Case Name (Short Case Title)	Quantity
State of Washington v. Rogelio D. Rodriguez	5
PDF Name: Case #, Abbrev., [Party Name <u>if</u> more than one]	
320910 RSP	

CHECK BOX		X						
COLOR	GRAY	GREEN	BLUE	TAN	LILAC	ORANGE	YELLOW	RED
BRIEF TYPE (delete extras)	APP PET	RSP CAP	APR PRB GRE	RER	APS AMI	RSB AMA	SAG

A. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT MALICIOUS MISCHIEF IN THE SECOND DEGREE IS A FELONY?**
2. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE OFFENSE OF UNLAWFUL DISPLAY OF A WEAPON?**

B. RESPONSE TO STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant's Statement of the Case is substantially correct. The State makes the following corrections and amplifications to that record.

As Deputy George Rapp approached the Appellant's vehicle the Appellant popped out of the sun roof and pointed what appeared to be a handgun at the Deputy. Although Rapp could not say with certainty due to the distance, there was not a question in his mind that the Appellant held a firearm and he treated it as such at the time (10/30/13 RP 67). As the Appellant pointed the gun at Rapp, the Appellant yelled, "Get the fuck back." (10/30/13 RP 68). When Rapp served the warrant on the vehicle he found a silver zip gun which looked like the item he saw in the Appellant's hand.

(10/30/13 RP 86). He confirmed that the weapon was the item which had been pointed at him. (10/30/13 RP 88).

At trial, in addition to the testimony of Shawn Guajardo, the State provided a certified copy of a Juvenile Disposition Order showing the Appellant was previously convicted of Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree. (Designation of Exhibits, Exhibit #10). The document listed Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree as a conviction but did not indicate that the charge was a felony. *Id.*

C. RESPONSE TO ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON A MATTER OF LAW BY INFORMING THEM THAT MALICIOUS MISCHIEF IN THE SECOND DEGREE IS A FELONY.

When looking at the entire written question submitted to the court by the jury, it is clear the jury did not ask the court to resolve a factual issue. The second part of the query clarified the question, stating, “[t]he report does not explicitly say the charges were considered a felony.” The jury inquired whether Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree was a felony, not whether the Appellant had actually been convicted of the offense. The trial court correctly clarified a legal matter; it did not resolve a *disputed factual issue*.

The traditional role of a judge in the context of a jury trial is to act as the “arbiter of the law and manager of the trial process.” United States v. Evanston, 651 F.3d 1080, 1084 (9th Cir. 2011). The jury’s role is to be the finder of fact and check on arbitrary government.” Id. The Washington Constitution safeguards this principle by prohibiting judges from commenting on issues of fact. Art. IV § 16. This does not mean that every comment made by the court is considered a comment on the evidence. Appellate courts look at the circumstances and facts of each case to determine whether the court is actually commenting on evidence. State v. Detrick, 55 Wash.App. 501, 778 P.2d 529 (1989).

When examining instructions given to the jury, courts review their legality de novo. State v. Johnson, 152 Wash.App. 924, 935, 219 P.3d 958 (2009). “A jury instruction is not an impermissible comment on the evidence when sufficient evidence supports it and the instruction is an accurate statement of the law. Id. In this case, the State had offered evidence in the form of testimony and a legal document showing that the Appellant had been convicted of Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree. The State had proven the factual element of the conviction. While it was theoretically possible for the jury to disbelieve the document and the witness,

there is no indication in the record that such a factual issue was contested. Neither party spends time arguing the fact of the conviction during closing argument.

It follows naturally, that because the conviction itself was not in doubt, the only issue the jury might have is whether such a conviction satisfies the requirement of a felony. The question presented to the judge specifically indicates that is the issue. At first glance, the question sounds factual in nature: “Was Rogelio *convicted of a felony* as a juvenile.” (Emphasis added). In this case, the second half of the question clarifies: “The report does not explicitly say the charges were considered a felony.” The only evidence in the record regarding the prior convictions is a juvenile disposition (the jury refers to it as a report) which cites convictions for Assault in the Fourth Degree and Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree and the testimony of Mr. Guajardo. The disposition form, does not classify whether the convictions cited are felonies. As a result of that, the jurors are asking for clarification on the issue of the legal nature of the Malicious Mischief charge, not on the existence of the conviction. Given the circumstances in this particular case, this is the only reasonable explanation for the wording of the question.

Under RCW 9A.48.080, Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree is a class C felony. The conclusion is a matter of law, and not an issue of fact. When the judge answered “yes,” that the Appellant was convicted of a felony, he answered the legal question at issue. This is only possible interpretation of the statute in question. The role of the judge is act as the legal arbiter. In this manner the trial judge answered the legal question, and allowed the jury to concentrate on the factual issues in the case.

In State v. Levy, the Court found the trial court did wrongfully refer to a crowbar as a de facto deadly weapon in its jury instructions. 156 Wash.2d 709, 721-22, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). A crowbar is a deadly weapon only if it is used a certain manner. Id. at 722. The jury had to decide what manner the weapon had been used in, not the judge. Id. Unlike deciding how a crowbar is used, there is no factual issue or ambiguity in the classification of Malicious Mischief in the Second. The jury need not determine in what circumstances Malicious Mischief in the Second degree is a felony. It is always a felony. The judge correctly clarified a purely legal issue.

The Appellant argues that the judge should have referred the jury back to their instructions and not answered the question. Simply referring a jury back to their previous instructions, and ignoring valid legal questions, is not automatic safe harbor. State v. Tyler, 47 Wash.App 648, 653, 736 P.2d 1090 (1987) overruled on other grounds by State v. Delcambre, 116 Wash.2d 444, 805 P.2d 233 (1991). Nothing in the present instructions specified the nature of a Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree conviction. Referring the jury back to the instructions would have been misleading as nothing in those instructions answered the legal question at hand.

In any event, there was no prejudice to the Appellant because the issue of the conviction was not contested. A juvenile probation counselor confirmed that the Appellant had been under his supervision on a Malicious Mischief in the Second Degree conviction, which is a felony. The Appellant defense to the charge was diminished capacity. He did not attempt to contest the State's evidence of the prior conviction. The Malicious Mischief conviction played a relatively minor role in the proceedings. While the judge's instruction might have speeded up the deliberations, there is no evidence that it had any effect on the outcome.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR A LESSER INCLUDED BECAUSE HE COULD NOT SHOW ANY EVIDENCE THAT HE INTENDED ANYTHING OTHER THEN TO CAUSE FEAR AND APPREHENSION OF BODILY INJURY WHEN HE POINTED THE FIREARM AT THE OFFICER WHICH IS ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, NOT UNLAWFUL DISPLAY OF A WEAPON.

The jury rejected the Appellant's theory of diminished capacity when it found him guilty of Assault in the Second Degree. Even the Appellant's own expert conceded that he had the capacity to commit Assault in the Second Degree. The record as a whole shows that the Appellant intended to place the approaching officer in fear and apprehension by pointing a firearm at him. The Appellant now asks the appellate court to overlook this record and find that the diminished capacity defense succeeded to the extent that it required a lesser included instruction of Unlawful Display of a weapon. Such a shift is not supported by the law, which requires a rationale inference that the accused committed the lesser offense, to the exclusion of the greater offense. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 461, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000).

RCW 10.61.006 allows the trial court to exercise its discretion in determining if there is a proper legal and factual basis to issue a lesser included instruction. A trial court's decision not to issue a particular jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Prado, 144 Wn.App. 227, 241, 181 P.3d. 901 (2008). The Workman test requires the defendant meet a legal and a factual prong to be entitled to a lesser included instruction. State v. Henderson, 108 Wash.App. 143-44, 138, 321 P.3d 298 (2014). The State concedes that the legal prong of the Workman test is satisfied because each element of the lesser included offense of Unlawful Display of a Weapon is also present in the crime of Assault in the Second Degree. State v. Baggett, 103 Wash.App 564, 569, 13 P.3d 659 (2000).

The second prong of the Workman test requires the evidence presented in the case to support an inference that "only the lesser offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." Henderson at 144 citing State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wash.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). The reviewing court views the evidence that purports to support a lesser included instruction in a light most favorable to the party requesting the lesser included instruction, but the reviewing court reviews the trial's court's

determination of the factual prong using an abuse of discretion standard. Id.

In this instance, the trial court did not abuse its discretion because it acknowledged the difference between an alleged defense, and the actual factual record established during the course of the trial. When considering whether the record actually raises the necessary inference for a lesser included instruction, it is important to take into consideration the reasoning behind the Workman test:

[t]he purpose of this test is to ensure that there is evidence to support the giving of the requested instruction. If interpreted too literally, though, the factual test would impose a redundant and unnecessary requirement because all jury instructions must be supported by sufficient evidence... Necessarily, then, the factual test includes a requirement that there be a factual showing more particularized than that required for other jury instructions. Specifically, we have held that the evidence must raise an inference that *only* the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense.

State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wash.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original). The Appellant does not specifically deny any elements of the offense of Assault in the Second Degree. His expert speculated that he may have

simply intended to scare the deputy off. This is not a denial of the assault; it is simply an explanation of why he assaulted the deputy.

The key distinction between the two crimes can best be evaluated by looking at the elements within the jury instructions. Unlawful Display of a weapon requires that on the day in question the defendant "...displayed a firearm... in a manner, under circumstances, and at a time and place that manifested an intent to intimidate another or warranted alarm for the safety of other persons." WPIC 133.41. The Assault charge requires

"...an act, with unlawful force, done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

WPIC 35.50. The main distinction between the two charges is the specific intent of the actor. Display of a Weapon can be accomplished by trying to intimidate another with a weapon or by displaying the weapon in a manner which warrants alarm in another. The Assault can only be accomplished by trying to make one fear bodily injury and actually accomplishing that goal.

There is no dispute that the deputy feared bodily harm. His testimony is clear; he was alarmed and took cover. Therefore, the

only way to justify the lesser included to the exclusion of the Assault in the Second Degree would be to show that the evidence allowed one to infer the Appellant had no desire to actually place the deputy in apprehension of bodily harm. There is absolutely no evidence to this effect. The defense expert, Dr. Rubin, opined that the Appellant either wanted to scare off the deputy and escape or wanted the deputy to actually open fire on him. Both of these theories rely on placing the deputy in apprehension of bodily harm.

One could argue the escape theory is more consistent with the surrounding facts. The Appellant did take a number of actions to avoid capture. The final action which was to actually flee the area on foot. In order for the weapon display to aid in his escape, the Appellant had to rely on the deputy actually being placed in apprehension and backing off. This theory then supports and Assault in the Second Degree charge because to believe it, one must accept the element of deliberately placing someone in fear of bodily injury.

The second theory, that the Appellant wanted the deputy to open fire, also supports the charge of Assault in the Second Degree. If the Appellant was actually seeking, "death by cop," as it is often called; he would have needed to place the deputy in actual